

1 [Didascalie delle figure???](#)

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

2 *"Pierce and Inhale" Design in Capsule Based Dry Powder Inhalers: Effect of capsule*
3 *piercing ~~position~~ and motion on aerodynamic performance of drug*

4 Francesco Martinelli¹, Anna Giulia Balducci², Alessandra Rossi¹, Fabio Sonvico¹, Paolo
5 Colombo¹, Francesca Buttini^{1*}

6
7 ¹[Department of Pharmacy, University of Parma, Viale delle Scienze 27/A, 43124 Parma,](#)
8 [Italy](#)

Formatted: Superscript

Formatted: Superscript

9 ²[Interdepartmental Center, Biopharmanet-TEC, University of Parma, Viale delle Scienze](#)
10 [27/A, 43124 Parma, Italy](#)

Formatted: Superscript

11
12
13 *** Corresponding Author**

14 Dr. Francesca Buttini,

15 Department of Pharmacy

16 University of Parma,

17 Viale delle Scienze 27/a, 43124 Parma, IT

18 Tel. +39 0521 906008

19 Fax. +39 0521 905006

20 E-mail: francesca.buttini@unipr.it

22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

Abstract

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

In this work three capsule-based dry powder inhalers, available for generics product development, were compared. Two technologically different dry powder formulations were used in order to relate the capsule piercing position and motion in the device to their aerodynamic performance.

A “pierce and inhale” design, in which the capsules pierced with RS01, Handihaler or Turbospin devices were aerosolised in the same device or transferred and aerosolised with another device, was constructed and carried out.

The results obtained showed that the two dry powder formulations, i.e., a drug/lactose blend or a carrier-free powder, aerosolized using the capsule based inhalers, performed differently. The aerosolization of drug carrier mixture in terms of drug dispersion and emitted dose, was more sensible to the piercing and device combination than the carrier free powder. The motion of the capsule during the aerosolization boosted the powder emission, whereas the powder disaggregation was more influenced by the airflow pattern around the capsule and inside the inhaler turbulence chamber.

Keywords: RS01; HandiHaler; Turbospin; formoterol fumarate; spray-dried insulin; dry powder inhaler.

| | | |
|----|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| 44 | Abbreviation section | |
| 45 | AR | Aerolizer |
| 46 | DD | Delivered Dose |
| 47 | DPI | Dry Powder Inhaler |
| 48 | FPD | Fine Particle Dose |
| 49 | FPF | Fine Particle Fraction |
| 50 | HH | HandiHaler |
| 51 | MMAD | Mass Median Aerodynamic Diameter |
| 52 | NGI | Next Generation Impactor |
| 53 | RF | Respirable Fraction |
| 54 | TS | Turbospin |
| 55 | | |

561 | **Introduction**

Formatted: Font: Bold

57 Dry Powder Inhalers (DPI) are combination products in which formulation (therapeutic
58 effect) and inhalation device (aerosol production) have to be developed together. The
59 fluidization, disaggregation and aerodynamic size of drug particles are controlled by the
60 powder physicochemical properties and by the design of the inhaler. Many DPIs contain the
61 pre-metered labelled dose in blisters or capsules, which are pierced prior to delivery. Together
62 with their own intrinsic resistance, the emission of powder from the device and the
63 aerodynamic performance are related to capsule openings and motion (rotation, shake,
64 vibration) (Islam and Cleary, 2012). In addition, others factors, such as the hole size and
65 position in the pierced capsule, (Coates et al., 2005), the capsule chamber volume (Behara et
66 al., 2011a, 2011b), the mouthpiece geometry (Coates et al., 2007) and grid structure (Coates
67 et al., 2004) may influence the performance of the [inhaler product](#).

68 The inhalation drug products already faced the appearance of generic versions, in particular
69 metered dose inhalers. However, very few generic DPI have been registered, likely due to the
70 difficulty to make copy of these demanding formulations. Rolenium[®], a generic version of
71 salmetero xinafoatel/fluticasone proprionate DPI entered in the inhaler market in 2013 (). In
72 this case, the generic company developed its own device, Elpenhaler, for making the product
73 similar to the marketed originator. Other generic companies do not will to develop their own
74 new device and choose to use one among those available on the market. Therefore, the
75 knowledge of the devices' performance becomes an essential step in order to select the most
76 appropriate to combine with the dry powder formulation. It is agreed that the simplest devices
77 are the pre-metered ones using hard capsules as drug reservoirs. For example, among the
78 marketed devices, RS01 (Plastiape) and Turbospin (PH&T) have been frequently used.
79 Turbospin in particular, has been used in high dose delivery of antibiotics, such as in TOBI
80 Podhaler and Colobreathe products (). [HANDIHALER...](#)

Formatted: Highlight

81
82 In the capsule pre-metered devices, t
83 The influence ~~on the aerodynamic performance~~ on the aerodynamic performance of the
84 capsule piercing and motion ~~under the~~during inhalation— on the aerodynamic
85 performance~~airflow, the type of formulation (with or without carrier) in dependence on the~~
86 type of formulation (with or without carrier) ~~the capsule piercing position and its motion~~
87 during inhalation airflow has never been ~~considered~~considered in dependence on the type of
88 formulation (with or without carrier). In this work three approved capsule-based dry powder
89 inhalers were compared for discovering their behaviour and adaptability to different
90 formulations. The piercing position on the capsule and its motion and capsule motion inside
91 the device ~~were have been~~ related to the powder emission and aerodynamic ~~performance~~drug
92 dispersion. The study was carried out using two technologically different dry powder
93 formulations ~~introduced loaded~~ in the capsule reservoir. An ~~commercial~~air jet micronized
94 formoterol fumarate blended with coarse ~~monohydrate~~ α -lactose monohydrate was used as
95 model carrier ~~model~~ formulation. In the specific case, the loaded size 3 capsules (size 3) of
96 the commercial product Foradil[®] were used. The second formulation consisted of a novel
97 insulin spray-dried powder without excipients, having a MMAD value of 1.79 μ m (Balducci
98 et al., 2014).....

99 A “pierce and inhale” ~~capsules and devices cross game~~combination scheme, in which the
100 capsules pierced with Handihaler, RS01, Handihaler and Turbospin were aerosolised ~~in with~~
101 the same device or transferred and aerosolised with another device was ~~designed~~designed (see
102 Table 1). The nine possible combinations of the three DPIs were tested and their performance
103 in terms of drug delivery discussed. Foradil Aerolizer performance was used as reference.

Formatted: Not Highlight

106 2. Materials and Methods

107 2.1. Materials

108 Formoterol fumarate lactose blend (Foradil® Aerolizer[®]; Novartis – inhalation powder in
109 hard gelatine capsules ~~combined with Aerolizer device~~, Batch U0093) was purchased from
110 the local pharmacy. One capsule contains 12 µg of formoterol fumarate in 25 mg of lactose.

111 Human recombinant insulin (Batch WEP1223) was purchased by Wako Chemicals (Japan).
112 The respirable insulin powder was obtained from an acidic drug solution spray dried
113 according to the method previously described (Balducci et al., 2014). All chemicals used were
114 of analytical grade and water was purified by Elix[®] Essential (Merck Millipore, USA). Size 3
115 hypromellose capsules (Vcaps[®] DPI); used for spray-dried insulin were provided by Capsugel
116 (Colmar, France).

117 The devices used in the study were the following:

- 118 Aerolizer[®] (Novartis, Switzerland), coded AR;
- 119 RS01 (Plastiap SpA, Italy);
- 120 HandiHaler[®] (Boehringer Ingelheim, Germany), coded HH;
- 121 Turbospin[®] (PH&T, Italy), coded TS.
- 122 ~~Aerolizer[®] (Novartis, Switzerland) AR;~~
- 123 ~~RS01 (Plastiap SpA, Italy);~~
- 124 ~~HandiHaler[®] (Boehringer Ingelheim, Germany) HH;~~
- 125 ~~Turbospin[®] (PH&T, Italy) TS.~~

Formatted: Font: Times, 12 pt

Formatted: Font: Times, 12 pt, Not Superscript/ Subscript

Formatted: Font: Times, 12 pt

Formatted: Normal, No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Not Superscript/ Subscript

Formatted: Not Superscript/ Subscript

127 2.2 The “pierce and inhale” design

128 All the devices use a size 3 capsule as dose reservoir ~~of powder formulation a size 3 capsule~~.

129 In general, the piercing mode of the selected inhalers consisted of two or more two-holes

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Comment [FS1]: Dalla figura 1 non sembra proprio che siano 2 (otto per aerolizer)

130 pierced in different capsule positions. Hole diameters were 1.15 mm for RS01[®] and
131 Turbospin[®], 1.45 mm for the HandiHaler[®], and 0.60 mm for and Aerolizer[®].
132 0.60 mm for the Aerolizer[®];

133 ~~Two different formulations were used for the study, namely the lactose blend of formoterol~~
134 ~~fumarate contained in Foradil capsules and the insulin spray-dried powder without excipients~~
135 ~~loaded in capsule size 3. The experimental work “pierce and inhale” design was was~~
136 ~~planned organized as the following in such a way that: efirst, each device was~~
137 ~~tested aerosolized the capsule pierced in itself and the capsules pierced with the other devices,~~
138 ~~as . The using the label prescribed operational mode flow rate was set down determining the~~
139 ~~pressure drop of 4 kPa with the capsule in place. The scheme illustrating the nine~~
140 ~~aerosolizations performed is reported in Table 1 where are reported the operating flow rates.~~
141 ~~Afterwards Therefore, the the “pierce and inhale” design was executed and the capsule was~~
142 ~~pierced and aerosolized in the same device or, pierced with one device, it was and was~~
143 ~~transferred for inserted and aerosolization used with the other devices. The detail of these~~
144 ~~combinations and the list of tests performed are illustrated in the Table 1.~~

145 Two different formulations were tested, namely a lactose blend of formoterol fumarate and an
146 insulin spray-dried powder without excipients previously described (Balducci et al., 2014).
147 ~~When the capsule was The piercing and transferring transferred with TS and HH, the devices~~
148 ~~were held horizontally, with of the capsule parallel to the working surface was carefully~~
149 ~~executed in order to prevent powder loss during the transfer to the other device. Also when~~
150 ~~the pierced capsule with RS01 was transferred into TS and HH, the devices were held~~
151 ~~horizontally and the head of the capsule was always placed up.~~

152

153 2.2. *In vitro* drug deposition

Formatted: Space After: 0 pt

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

154 The aerodynamic assessment was performed using the Next Generation Impactor (NGI)
155 (Copley Scientific, Nottingham, UK). The methodology followed the USP₃₆ guidelines for
156 dry powder inhalers (Apparatus 5, [United States Pharmacopoeia, Chapter 604](#)).

157 The collection stages were coated with Span 85 in cyclohexane solution (1% w/v) in order to
158 prevent particles bouncing during the analysis. NGI was assembled as prescribed and the pre-
159 separator was included in the system when the [carrier-carrier](#)-based formulation was tested.
160 Powder formulations were aerosolised inside the NGI and the amounts deposited on the
161 different parts of the impactor were collected using a water/methanol mixture (40:60) or
162 hydrochloridric acid (0.01 M) for formoterol fumarate ~~and/or~~ insulin, respectively.

163
164 Foradil[®] capsules were stored under controlled conditions of temperature and humidity (25 ±
165 5 °C and 50 ± 5% R.H.). Five capsules were discharged in the impactor during each test.

166 In the case of spray-dried insulin, one hypromellose capsule was loaded with 2 mg of powder
167 (insulin content 95.8%) and aerosolized. A Micro-Orifice Collector (MOC) was placed below
168 stage 7.

169 ~~Table 2 shows the Cut-off aerodynamic diameter for stages of Next Generation Impactor at~~
170 ~~different flow rates.~~

Formatted: Strikethrough

171 The measurement of drug deposited ~~ion~~ inside the impactor allows the calculation of different
172 deposition parameters. The delivered dose (DD) was the amount of drug ex-device [measured](#)
173 [from induction port to MOC](#). The Fine Particle Dose (FPD) was the mass of drug particles
174 with aerodynamic diameter lower than 5 µm; the Respirable Fraction (RF) was the ratio
175 between FPD and the labelled/loaded dose of drug; the Fine Particle Fraction (FPF) was the
176 ratio between ~~the~~ FPD and [the total mass collected in the impactor](#). ~~DD~~ The Mass Median

Formatted: Highlight

177 Aerodynamic Diameter (MMAD) was determined by plotting the cumulative percentage of

178 mass less than stated aerodynamic ~~aerodynamic~~ diameter ~~on~~ (probability scale) versus
179 aerodynamic diameter on (logarithmic scale).

180 Since the inhaler devices had different intrinsic resistance, they have been used at different air
181 flows. The flow rate used during each test~~s~~ was adjusted with a Critical Flow Controller TPK
182 (Copley Scientific, Nottingham, UK) in order to produce a pressure drop of 4 kPa over the
183 inhaler. In particular, the flow rates~~s~~ correspondent to 4 kPa drop over the inhaler without
184 capsule, controlled before each experiment, ~~measured~~ by Flow Meter DFM 2000 (Copley
185 Scientific, Nottingham, UK) and obtained ~~had the values~~ are reported in Table 1.

186
187 ~~Finally, the test duration, so that a volume of 4 L of air was withdrawn through the inhalers,~~
188 ~~was set to 2.7, 3, 4 and 6 seconds for Aerolizer, TS, RS01 and HH, respectively.~~

189
190 2.3. Assays of formoterol fumarate and insulin

191 Formoterol fumarate assay was performed according to previous published method (Buttini et
192 al., 2014) and insulin content was determined by HPLC according to (Balducci et al., 2014).

193
194 2.4. Statistical analysis

195 The significance of difference between the data was performed ~~by~~ using an unpaired t-test.
196 When pairs had different variances, the Welch's correction was used (significance level $p <$
197 0.05). Statistical analysis was performed using Prism 5 (GraphPad, Software Inc., USA).

198

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Line spacing: Double

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

3. Results and Discussions

3.1. Device description and powder delivery mechanism

The ~~RS01-medium resistance RS01~~ device pierces the capsule, horizontally inserted in the housing chamber, using two ~~oppositeng~~ needles; ~~the capsule is horizontally inserted in the housing chamber~~. Thus, two circular centred holes, one at the bottom of the capsule body and the other on the top of the head, are made. During the aerosolization, ~~the an~~ air-flow streams at 60 L/min enters ~~at 60 L/min~~ via the two tangential inlets ~~opposite~~ in the capsule chamber; ~~In~~ this way, ~~during-under~~ the inhalation ~~flux~~air-flow, the capsule ~~leavesing the housing chamber and~~ moves upside the housing chamber in a circular larger space where it can spins around ~~the-its~~ minor axis. The result is the centrifugation out of the capsule content through the two opposite holes. This ~~behaviour-capsule motion~~ is identical ~~in-to~~ Aerolizer[®] device, a low resistance inhaler, ~~where-in which~~ the capsule is pierced on the top and bottom using four needles ~~not-centred~~ and the mouthpiece is longer.

~~The~~ HandiHaler[®] has two parallel needles which pierce the capsule, vertically inserted ~~vertically~~ in the device, on the same side close to the top and bottom.- In this device, during the air-~~flux-flow at 40 L/min~~, the capsule axially vibrates shaking out ~~the-its~~ content (Shur et al., 2012).

Turbospin[®] device has a parallel couple of needles that make two nearby holes at the bottom of capsule body. The capsule vertically positioned shakes and twists when exposed to the inhalation air-flux-~~of 80 L/min~~, allowing the content to be emitted and aerosolised (Aquino et al., 2012; Healy et al., 2014).

Fig. 1 shows the four inhalers employed in this "pierce and inhale" design, the holes' position and the capsule motion direction inside the inhaler when flushed by the inhalation air-flow. ~~In~~

223 ~~particular, the hole diameters were 1.05 ± 0.07 mm for TS, 1.72 ± 0.07 mm for HH and 1.26 ±~~
224 ~~0.11 mm for RS01.~~

225

226 3.2. Aerodynamic performance of carrier-based formulation

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

227 Foradil ~~capsules contained 12 µg of formoterol fumarate dispersed in 25 mg of lactose. The~~
228 ~~product uses~~ gelatine capsules contain 12 µg of formoterol fumarate, coupled with the
229 Aerolizer device. The device has two pairs of four needles ~~(0.60 mm)~~ with conical tips, which
230 pierce the holes ~~centrally~~ on the bottom and on the top of the capsule. ~~The four needles would~~
231 ~~prevent crack risks of gelatine shell; the capsule motion in the Aerolizer is the same as in~~
232 ~~RS01.~~

233 The Foradil formulation has been developed with the Aerolizer device; the type of lactose, its
234 size distribution and the ratio in the mixture have been optimized for the combination with the
235 Aerolizer this specific device. With the intent to ~~constitute~~ fix the establish a performance
236 reference, the aerodynamic assessment of Foradil was firstly conducted (Table 23). The
237 delivered dose was 9.754 µg, corresponding to 79.81.5-2 % of the formoterol fumarate
238 labelled dose and the fine particle dose was 3.53-71 µg.

239 ~~Foradil formulation has been developed for the Aerolizer device; type of lactose, its size~~
240 ~~distribution and ratio in the mixture have been optimized for the combination with the~~
241 ~~Aerolizer. Keeping in mind this aspect, Then, the~~ Foradil capsules were inserted in the other
242 devices of the study, pierced and aerosolized. The measured aerodynamic parameters are
243 reported in Table 23 and the particle size deposition distributions of formoterol fumarate
244 ~~determined~~ within the ~~Next Generation Impactor~~ NGI, are illustrated in Fig. 2.

245

246 More than 81% of the fFormoterol fumarate labelled dose was delivered ~~dose from~~ by AR,
247 RS01 and HH ~~was higher than 81% of the labelled dose.~~ Turbospin ~~had a problem~~ showed a

248 ~~lower in~~ dose emission (~~73%~~) since the capsule and mouthpiece withhold ~~2726~~% of drug (see
249 Fig. 2). Although the TS device ~~showed presented~~ the lowest delivered dose, ~~the FPD was~~
250 ~~close to Aerolizer due to~~ the low amount of drug deposited in the throat and pre-separator.
251 ~~This~~ substantiated an efficient dispersion of ~~delivered~~ powder ~~emitted~~ in the air stream,
252 ~~leading to a FPD comparable to Aerolizer.~~

253 Among the three devices, HH exhibited the lowest fine particle dose (3.13 µg) justified by the
254 high MMAD value (3.59 µm), despite the large size of capsule holes (1.72 mm) ~~could favour~~
255 ~~the dose emission, favoured the dose emission.~~ However, ~~it is known that~~ the ~~aperture hole~~
256 size of ~~the capsule~~ ~~has significant inversely a~~ effects ~~on~~ the inhaler performance having shown
257 that increasing the ~~capsule~~ hole size, ~~the drug deaggregation~~ ~~disaggregation~~ decreased (Son et
258 al., 2013). The less efficient ~~deaggregation~~ ~~disaggregation~~ capacity of HH determined the
259 Foradil formulation did not effectively combine with this device, since the mouthpiece and
260 capsule retained ~~a high drug amount~~ fraction of ~~the drug~~ formulation. As a consequence, the
261 deposition on respirable size stages was low.

262 The RS01 resulted ~~in~~ the most efficient device for aerosolizing ~~the~~ Foradil[®] capsule content
263 as the values of delivered dose, fine particle dose and fraction indicated. The centrifuge
264 spinning of the capsule in RS01 (~~and Aerolizer too~~) supported high powder emission and
265 ~~deaggregation~~ ~~disaggregation~~ (Chew et al., 2002). Mechanistically, the reported higher
266 number of particle collisions in RS01 respect to Handihaler (Donovan et al., 2012) is at the
267 base of the drug detachment from the carrier.

268 ~~Finally,~~ Aerolizer showed ~~a~~ FPD value significantly lower compared to the similar RS01
269 device (3.53 versus 4.15 µg). The difference could be assigned to the lower emitted dose as
270 result of ~~the lower~~ resistance of Aerolizer, together with ~~thea~~ different size and ~~number~~
271 ~~position~~ of holes ~~and mouthpiece length~~. ~~On In regard to of this mouthpiece different~~
272 ~~lengths~~ ~~regard~~, it has been demonstrated that the Aerolizer mouthpiece geometry had no effect

273 | on device retention, but strongly affected the amount of throat deposition (Coates et al.,
274 | 2007).

275 | In summary, the capsule motion behaviour (rotation for Aerolizer and RS01, shaking and
276 | vibration for HandiHaler and shaking and twisting for Turbospin) evidently favoured the
277 | respirability of the formulation when the capsule, rotatinged along the minor axis, with
278 | presented the holes at the end-extremitiesof capsule.

280 | 3.3. Foradil capsules pierced with one device and aerosolized with another one.

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

282 | The *in vitro* respirability parameters of all the combinations between the device used to pierce
283 | the capsule and the device employed to aerosolise the formulation are reported in Table 23.

284 | The Aerolizer was not included in the "pierce and inhale" game-design because it has the
285 | samesimilar piercing position and motion characteristics of RS01.

286 | The aerosolization with RS01 reached a top-high efficacy also when the Foradil capsule was
287 | pierced with the other devices. In particular, the aerodynamic parameters obtained when the

288 | capsule was pierced with HH were not significantly different from the values obtained by
289 | piercing with RS01. On the contrary, the capsule pierced using Turbospin and aerosolized

290 | with RS01 exhibited a DD and a FPD values significantly lower compared to the previous
291 | other combinations. This has to be attributed to the hole positions: RS01 and HH devices

292 | made two opposite holes located on the furthestmost part of capsule cap and body, whereas TS
293 | made two close holes only on the body end. Thus, the capsule spinning in the RS01

294 | maximized the emission under centrifugal force when two opposite holes were present at the
295 | end-extremities of the capsule body and cap. It vault to underline that the fine particle fraction

Formatted: Highlight

296 | values of the three hole/device experiments were similar but, in reality, different doses have
297 | been deposited in the peripheral lung region.

Comment [FS2]: E' cosi?

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

298 | Aerosolizing with ~~the HandiHaler inhaler~~ the Foradil capsules pierced with the other two
299 | devices, it was found that the capsule pierced by RS01 device gave the highest delivered dose
300 | value (10.07 µg), but the poorest FPD, ~~equal to~~ (-2.38 µg). The air flow of HH device ~~air flow~~
301 | efficiently extracts the powder even with the RS01 holes, but the ~~deaggregation~~disaggregation
302 | was strongly affected by the hole position. ~~Theis~~ different behaviour could be justified
303 | considering the described path of air flow around the capsule in the HH inhaler (Shur et al.,
304 | 2012). It has been reported that during the axial vibration of the capsule, the pressure
305 | distribution around the capsule in HH₂ calculated by Computational Fluid Dynamic₂ showed
306 | that the lower hole was situated within a low-pressure region. Hence, the air was drawn into
307 | the capsule through the upper pierced hole and out from the lower pierced hole₂ causing the
308 | powder dose to leave the capsule through the bottom (Shur et al., 2012). When the capsule
309 | was pierced by TS, the ~~powder emission from left~~ the capsule was not differently in terms of
310 | DD and FPD ~~compared to the~~compared to Handihaler-HH. In HH₂ the published flow field
311 | shows a high air velocity profile at the bottom of the capsule. Considered that Turbospin
312 | makes two holes on the capsule bottom side, it could be assumed that the holes made with TS
313 | were involved in the air velocity region ~~of the Handihaler~~ turbulence chamber.
314 | However, since the emission from RS01 pierced capsule was ~~the highest~~, there must have
315 | been a different pathway of the air inside capsule₂ since the RS01 hole was centred on the
316 | capsule bottom. This caused a lower ~~deaggregation or~~ detachment of drug from lactose
317 | carrier. In fact, analysing the deposition of powder in the NGI, a significant higher deposition
318 | in the pre-separator for RS01 pierced capsule was measured in this experimental set, meaning
319 | that ~~higher~~ amount of drug remained attached to the carrier after aerosolization (see Fig. 3).
320 | Also the value of MMAD was the highest in comparison with the other devices and
321 | combinations.

Comment [FS3]: Non chiaro

322

323 | The third set of experiments (~~see Table 23~~) consisted of Foradil capsules pierced with the
324 | other devices and aerosolized with Turbospin. Differences in delivered dose were observed
325 | and TS ~~had exhibited~~ the lowest **emission value (8.76 µg)**, not significantly different from
326 | RS01 ~~pierced capsule~~. Significantly, the DD value obtained aerosolizing with TS increased
327 | when the capsule was pierced with HH device (10.27 µg). The drug delivered amount of
328 | capsule pierced with HH could be favoured by bigger hole size and the position of the hole. It
329 | was observed that when the holes were centred on the bottom of the capsule, a higher amount
330 | of powder was recovered in the capsule housing of TS device (Fig. 4). However, despite the
331 | lowest amount of formoterol fumarate emitted, Turbospin showed high
332 | ~~deaggregation~~~~disaggregation~~ efficiency, also due to the fastest **air-flow** rate for aerosolization
333 | among the three ~~piercing~~ devices. In fact, the FPD reached the highest value in this set of
334 | experiments (3.35 µg) and the MMADs were always low.

Comment [FS4]: Qualcosa non va con la numerazione delle tabelle :-(

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [FS5]: Airflow rates potrebbero essere riportate in tabella invece che I cut off size

335 | The FPDs from capsules pierced with RS01 and HH were significantly lower compared to TS
336 | ~~reference~~ data. This result was ~~in agreement~~~~confirmed~~ with the high pre-separator deposition
337 | (around 40%, see Fig. 4).

338 |
339 | In summary, ~~in this combination study between different aerosolization devices and capsule~~
340 | ~~piercing~~, the aerodynamic performance of the different inhalers ~~loaded~~ with the drug/carrier
341 | formulation ~~in the combination study between aerosolization and capsule piercing~~, is ranked
342 | in ~~the~~ Table 34 as Respirable Fraction (RF), a parameter taking into account both the
343 | emission and the disaggregation performances.

344 | The powder emission from the capsule was definitely boosted by the centrifugation due to the
345 | capsule spinning as realized in RS01 or Aerolizer inhalers. In fact, in discharging the Foradil
346 | powder, the RF values depicting the highest efficient drug deposition were exhibited by RS01
347 | device, independently of ~~fr~~ the capsule piercing position. However, since in RS01 the capsule

348 rotates around its minor axis, Foradil formulation achieved the top emission and
349 ~~deaggregation~~disaggregation when the holes are oppositely pierced on the capsule. In fact,
350 RS01 was less performing when the holes are confined on one side of the capsule, such as in
351 TS.

352
353 Turbospin inhaler evidenced a clear dichotomy between emission and
354 ~~deaggregation~~disaggregation of drug/carrier mixture. The air turbulence ~~of in Turbospin this~~
355 device provided high ~~deaggregation~~disaggregation in front of together with low emission. This
356 inhaler constantly retained in the device/capsule important amount of powder, reasonably due
357 to the holes at the bottom of the capsule in the turbulence chamber of the device.

358 The HH devices, that aerosolizes through a depression in correspondence of the lateral surface
359 of the capsule bottom, worked well also with the two holes provided by Turbospin, but badly
360 when the bottom hole was centred on the capsule body, such as with the capsules pierced with
361 RS01.

362 The aerosolization with Turbospin or HandiHaler, where the capsule swirl and shakes for
363 powder emission, was negatively affected in case of the two opposite holes pierced by RS01.

364

365

366 3.4. Aerodynamic performance of a carrier-free insulin formulation

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

367 ~~A~~For aerosolizing ~~The same study design applied to the Foradil[®] was performed with the~~
368 insulin inhalation powder. ~~This, the~~ carrier-free formulation ~~did not require the carrier~~
369 ~~detachment of drug, but only~~ requires the ~~particle~~ ~~deaggregation~~disaggregation of the soft
370 aggregates sd powder. 2 mg of a recombinant human insulin spray-dried powder were loaded in
371 HPMC size 3 capsules and aerosolized with the three devices. By piercing and aerosolizing
372 the capsule within the same device (Table 45), the RS01 device showed the best results in

373 terms of delivered dose and FPD. In comparison, Turbospin and HandiHaler devices showed
374 FPD values significantly lower. Turbospin and HandiHaler devices showed FPD values
375 significantly lower compared to RS01. MMAD also depicts confirm thea better
376 deaggregationdisaggregation performanceed byof RS01.

377 The distribution of the powder inside the impactor is illustrated in Fig. 5. RS01, HH, TS
378 devices had a different average device/capsule powder retention. As found for Foradil, among
379 the devices, Turbospin showed a the lowest insulin spray dried emitted dose, but the high
380 variability of the data did not allow to claim a strong significance. Thus, spray dried insulin
381 confirmed the result observed in the case of formoterol blend was confirmed: the capsule
382 spinning during aerosolization (RS01 device) boosted the delivered dose and the powder
383 respirability.

384 To investigate the effect of the combination between hole position and device, After that, the
385 capsules pierced with a device were used with other devices, in all possible combinations.

386 Aerosolizing with the RS01 device, an emitted dose of insulin always above 85% of loaded
387 dose was measured. Moreover, the different piercing position of the capsule did not affect
388 significantly the delivered dose. The FPD of capsule pierced and aerosolized with RS01 was
389 not significantly modified when the capsules were pierced with the other devices, indicating
390 that this highly respirable spray dried insulin the capsule spinning reduced the effect of the
391 hole position with this highly respirable spray dried insulin when the capsule is spinning.

392 The HandiHaler device, as aerosol producer, gave the same delivered dose of (1.6 mg) with
393 all the piercing combinations and the fine particle dose did not change with the different
394 piercing positions. The MMAD values resulted increased compared to the RS01 as inhaler,
395 indicating a lower deaggregationdisaggregation efficiency.

396 Finally, when the capsule was pierced and aerosolized with the Turbospin, the emitted dose
397 and fine particle dose were the lowest compared to the other devices. Two holes made on the

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

398 bottom end of the capsule in TS device led to a high retention of the the powder in the inhaler
399 also with this formulation. Powder aerodynamic distribution (Figure- 6) shows that, using TS
400 to aerosolize the capsules pierced by the other two inhalers, in particular HH, the amount of
401 powder non-emitted and remained remaining non-emitted in the capsule and device was
402 significantly reduced.

403 -In the case of this carrier free insulin powder, the deaggregationdisaggregation was less
404 demanding than the emission from the capsule. -In fact, insulin spray dried powder was very
405 flowable indicating that and the particles do not have the tendency to aggregate.

406 Comparing the Respirable Fraction of the device various combinations (Table 56), the
407 differences in the values measured resulted less pronounced than in the case of the
408 drug/carrier mixture. Again, the performance of the RS01 as dry powder inhaler was at the
409 top of the ranking and of the respirable fractions and the values were more reproducible.

411 4. Conclusions

412 The results obtained allow to conclude that the two aerodynamic delivery variables of dry
413 powder inhaler i.e., powder emission and drug deaggregationdisaggregation (MMAD and
414 FPD), awere differently maximized by the capsule motion in the inhaler and in relation to
415 holes position on the pierced capsule hole position. The different combination between
416 piercing site and aerosolizing revealed that the capsule motion under the inhalation air-flow
417 The powder emission was essentially boosted the powder emission by the motion of the
418 capsule during air flow, whereas the air-flow pattern around the capsule in the turbulence
419 chamber of inhaler reinforced the powder deaggregationdisaggregation and dispersion resulted
420 more dependent on the air flow pattern around the capsule and inside the turbulence chamber
421 of the inhaler. of the powder.

Comment [FS6]: Citazione? As studied previously

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [FS7]: Spinning?

422 -The dose emission and drug dispersion of the two different dry powder formulations, i.e.,
423 carrier blend or pure drug, aerosolized using ~~capsule based inhalers performed differently the~~
424 ~~three devices in terms of emission and drug dispersion in the devices, as evidenced when in~~
425 ~~which the pierced capsules were pierced were aerosolized~~ with another device, could drive to
426 optimize the optimization of other combinations of device with generic formulations.
427 ~~When In case of~~ formoterol fumarate/~~lactose~~ blended ~~with lactose was used~~, the capsule
428 motion during the aerosolization was ~~the the~~ critical factor for ~~the~~ emission. The drug
429 aerodynamic performance ~~of the due to the powder disaggregation powder~~ was significantly
430 ~~affected modified~~ by the different combinations between hole position and inhaler type.
431 ~~When In case of~~ insulin spray-dried powder without carrier ~~was employed, results stressed the~~
432 ~~importance of~~ capsule motion was the most relevant characteristic for the drug
433 aerodynamic performance. —Using the high respirable pure insulin powder, the capsule
434 piercing position was less influent on the device performance measured as respirable fraction.

435
436

437 Acknowledgments

438 The authors would like to thank Plastiapa Spa (Osnago, LC, Italy) for kindly supplying the
439 RS01 inhaler.

440 The research was conducted without any industrial funds but driven by personal interest.

441
442

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Formatted: Highlight

443 | References

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

- 444 Aquino, R.P., Prota, L., Auriemma, G., Santoro, a, Mencherini, T., Colombo, G., Russo, P.,
445 2012. Dry powder inhalers of gentamicin and leucine: formulation parameters, aerosol
446 performance and in vitro toxicity on CuFil cells. *Int. J. Pharm.* 426, 100–7.
447 doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2012.01.026
- 448 Balducci, A.G., Cagnani, S., Sonvico, F., Rossi, A., Barata, P., Colombo, G., Colombo, P.,
449 Buttini, F., 2014. ~~European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences~~ Pure insulin highly
450 respirable powders for inhalation. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 51, 110–117.
451 doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2013.08.009
- 452 Behara, S.R.B., Kippax, P., Larson, I., Morton, D.~~A.-a~~-V., Stewart, P., 2011a. Kinetics of
453 emitted mass—A study with three dry powder inhaler devices. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 66,
454 5284–5292. doi:10.1016/j.ces.2011.07.029
- 455 Behara, S.R.B., Larson, I., Kippax, P., Morton, D.~~A.-a~~-V., Stewart, P., 2011b. The kinetics of
456 cohesive powder de-agglomeration from three inhaler devices. *Int. J. Pharm.* 421, 72–81.
457 doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.09.024
- 458 Buttini, F., Miozzi, M., Balducci, A.G., Royall, P.G., Brambilla, G., Colombo, P., Bettini, R.,
459 Forbes, B., 2014. Differences in physical chemistry and dissolution rate of solid particle
460 aerosols from solution pressurised inhalers. *Int. J. Pharm.* 465, 42–51.
461 doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2014.01.033
- 462 Chew, N.Y.K., Chan, H., Bagster, D.F., Mukhraiya, J., 2002. Characterization of
463 pharmaceutical powder inhalers: estimation of energy input for powder dispersion and
464 effect of capsule device configuration. *J. Aerosol Sci.* 33, 999–1008.
- 465 Coates, M.S., Chan, H.-K., Fletcher, D.F., Chiou, H., 2007. Influence of mouthpiece
466 geometry on the aerosol delivery performance of a dry powder inhaler. *Pharm. Res.* 24,
467 1450–6. doi:10.1007/s11095-007-9262-z
- 468 Coates, M.S., Fletcher, D.F., Chan, H.-K., Raper, J.~~A.-a~~, 2004. Effect of design on the
469 performance of a dry powder inhaler using computational fluid dynamics. Part 1: Grid
470 structure and mouthpiece length. *J. Pharm. Sci.* 93, 2863–76. doi:10.1002/jps.20201
- 471 Coates, M.S., Fletcher, D.F., Chan, H.-K., Raper, J.~~A.-a~~, 2005. The role of capsule on the
472 performance of a dry powder inhaler using computational and experimental analyses.
473 *Pharm. Res.* 22, 923–32. doi:10.1007/s11095-005-4587-y
- 474 Donovan, M.J., Kim, S.I.N.H., Raman, V., Smyth, H.D., 2012. Dry Powder Inhaler Device
475 Influence on Carrier Particle Performance 101, 1097–1107. doi:10.1002/jps
- 476 Healy, A.M., Amaro, M.I., Paluch, K.J., Tajber, L., 2014. Dry powders for oral inhalation
477 free of lactose carrier particles. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 75, 32–52.
478 doi:10.1016/j.addr.2014.04.005

Formatted: Highlight

479 Islam, N., Cleary, M.J., 2012. Developing an efficient and reliable dry powder inhaler for
480 pulmonary drug delivery--a review for multidisciplinary researchers. Med. Eng. Phys.
481 34, 409–27. doi:10.1016/j.medengphy.2011.12.025

482 Shur, J., Lee, S., Adams, W., Lionberger, R., Tibbatts, J., Price, R., 2012. Effect of device
483 design on the in vitro performance and comparability for capsule-based dry powder
484 inhalers. AAPS J. 14, 667–76. doi:10.1208/s12248-012-9379-9

485 Son, Y.J., Longest, P.W., Tian, G., Hindle, M., 2013. Evaluation and modification of
486 commercial dry powder inhalers for the aerosolization of a submicrometer excipient
487 enhanced growth (EEG) formulation. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 49, 390–399.
488 doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2013.04.011

489 ~~The United States Pharmacopeial Convention Inc., 2011. <601> Aerosols, Nasal Sprays,
490 Metered Dose Inhalers, and Dry Powder Inhalers Monograph, USP 34 NF 29 the United
491 States Pharmacopoeia and The National Formulary: The Official Compendia of
492 Standards. The United States Pharmacopeial Convention Inc., Rockville, MD, pp. 218–
493 239.~~

494

Formatted: Left

495 [Figure Legendscaptions](#)

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

496

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left: 0 cm, First line: 0 cm

497 Fig 1. Dry powder inhalers, the relative pierced capsules and the motion of the capsule, top to
498 bottom: Aerolizer, RS01, HandiHaler, Turbospin.

499

500 Fig 2. Deposition of formoterol fumarate dry powder aerosolized with different devices inside
501 the Next Generation Impactor; (n=3; mean \pm sd); (D+C: Device and capsule, IP: induction
502 port). The cut-off of each stage (S) has not been represented since the devices operated at
503 different flow rate.

504

505 Fig 3. Deposition of formoterol fumarate dry powder aerosolized with HandiHaler inside the
506 Next Generation Impactor. Operating flow rate 40 L/min (n=3; mean \pm sd); (D+C: Device and
507 capsule, IP: induction port). Legend refers to the piercing device.

508

509 Fig 4. Deposition of formoterol fumarate dry powder aerosolized with Turbospin inside the
510 Next Generation Impactor. Operating flow rate 80 L/min (n=3; mean \pm sd); (D+C: Device and
511 capsule, IP: induction port). Legend refers to the piercing device.

512

513 Fig 5. Deposition of insulin spray-dried powder aerosolized with different devices inside the
514 Next Generation Impactor; (n=3; mean \pm sd); (D+C: Device and capsule, IP: induction port).
515 The cut-off of each stage (S) has not been represented since the devices operated at different
516 flow rate.

517

518 Fig 6. Deposition of insulin spray-dried powder aerosolized with Turbospin inside the Next
519 Generation Impactor. Operating flow rate 80 L/min (n=3; mean \pm sd); (D+C: Device and
520 capsule, IP: induction port). Legend refers to the piercing device.